STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
ROBERT E. HOOD, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Case No. 2016-CP-40-6916
Appellate Case No. 2017-002577

Charles Eugene Carpenter,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections and
The State of South Carolina, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Desa Ballard
Harvey M. Watson III
BALLARD & WATSON
P.O. Box 6338
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
OCT 29 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in failing to recognize the propriety of Carpenter asserting claims for declaratory judgment and petition for writ of habeas corpus in the circuit court, as recognized and determined by Judge Toal who addressed and ruled on that issue by prior order in the instant case?
- II. Did the sentencing judge lose authority/jurisdiction to “enhance” or “change” a sentence that was imposed in a previously concluded term of court, regardless of why the sentencing judge was involved or assigned to that particular matter for sentencing initially?
- III. Did the trial judge fail to address and rule on valid claims made for relief on the basis of a declaratory judgment action, separate and beyond that which was addressed as grounds for habeas corpus?
- IV. Did the South Carolina Department of Corrections engage in activity that constituted a sufficient “change” with respect to the criminal sentence being served by Carpenter such that the actions by SCDC triggered due process rights for Carpenter that were not met?
- V. Did the South Carolina Department of Corrections engage in activity that violated due process through its ongoing, intentionally disparate treatment of Carpenter as compared to others similarly situated?
- VI. Were actions of the trial court so prejudicial to the proceedings such that they effectuated a denial of due process that compels relief on behalf of Appellant to avoid an affront to the judicial system?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was initiated by Appellant Charles Eugene Carpenter (hereinafter "Carpenter") filing of a Summons and Complaint against Respondent South Carolina Department of Corrections (hereinafter "SCDC") on November 18, 2016. The Complaint included causes of action for declaratory judgment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-53-10 et seq. as well as a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. (R. pp. 47-315). Carpenter also filed a separate Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Expedited) that same day. (R. pp. 44-46). Defendant SCDC filed a Motion to Dismiss on December 28, 2016. (R. pp. 316-318). Following a hearing on that motion, the Honorable Casey Manning ordered on February 23, 2017 that the State of South Carolina (hereinafter "the State") be made a defendant to the action. (R. pp. 4-6). An amended Summons was filed on February 21, 2017 and served on Respondent State on that same day. The State filed a Return and Motion to Dismiss on March 31, 2017. (R. pp. 327-337).

Retired Chief Justice Jean Toal, sitting as a circuit court judge by designation, denied both Motions to Dismiss by order dated April 19, 2017 and filed April 25, 2017. (R. pp. 7-12).

The matter was then tried before the Honorable Robert Hood on June 7, 2017, who subsequently issued two orders. The first order was captioned as "Order for Judgment in Favor of the South Carolina Department of Corrections" (hereafter "SCDC order") and was dated September 12, 2017, but not filed until October 2, 2017 at 11:19 A.M. (R. pp. 15-24). The second order was captioned as "Order Dismissing Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus," (hereafter "Habeas Order") likewise was dated for September 12, 2017 but only filed on October 2, 2017 at 11:20 A.M. (R. pp. 25-40). The habeas order stated that it "dispenses with the claims made against the State." (Id., p. 27).

Appellant timely filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, on October 10, 2017. (R. p. 422-431). An Order denying reconsideration was signed and filed on December 18, 2017. (R. p. 43). Appellant timely appealed the final orders and order denying reconsideration thereof by filing a Notice of Appeal on December 20, 2017. (R. pp. 445-475). The same day, Appellant petitioned the Supreme Court for Certification of the Appeal to that Court, and for consolidation with his Petition in the Original Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court that was filed on December 20, 2017. The Supreme Court has not ruled on those petitions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Carpenter is currently confined in the Evans Correctional Institution. On April 7, 1990, Carpenter signed a plea agreement with the State to resolve multiple outstanding charges. (R. pp. 69-75). The terms for that agreement provided, *inter alia*,

- (a) Carpenter would enter a plea of guilty to two counts of violating S.C. Code. Ann. Section 44-53-370(e), *i.e.*, trafficking in marijuana and cocaine.
- (b) Sentencing would be done pursuant to Section 44-53-370(e)(2) with regard to Count One of Indictment 90GS4705002;
- (c) Sentencing would be done pursuant to Section 44-53-370(e)(1)(d) with regard to Count One of Indictment 90GS4705001.
- (d) The State will recommend that the Court impose a total sentence of 25 years.
- (e) Carpenter would provide information to the State and cooperate in investigations.
- (f) If the State's obligations under the plea agreement become "null and void... the State may argue for a maximum sentence for the offenses to which [Carpenter] pled guilty"
- (g) "The Attorneys for the State agree to recommend that any sentences of incarceration

of the Defendant, Charles Eugene Carpenter... receives as a result of these pleas shall be concurrent terms of incarceration, and that the Defendant has no right to withdraw his plea, with the further understanding that should the Defendant fail to fulfill the terms of this agreement, then the State may recommend that any sentence be run consecutive, each Count to the other.”

- (h) “The parties hereby agree that this Plea Agreement supersedes all prior promises, representations and statement of the parties, that this Agreement may be modified only in writing and signed by all parties, except as to the matters placed on the record in open court on April 7, 1990, and that any and all other promises, representations and statements, whether made prior to or after this Agreement, are null and void.”

Carpenter entered his plea on April 7, 1990. At the time Carpenter’s plea, the presiding judge, Judge Cottingham, stated “Now, I tell you that this Court will abide by this plea agreement. I tell you that upon the record.” (R. p. 85, lines 19 – 20). Judge Cottingham also stated “If I conclude upon proper presentation that you have not [cooperated with law enforcement], then this plea agreement to you and to me is void and of no effect.” (R. p. 86, lines 4-6). In Judge Cottingham’s colloquy with counsel, he stated “And as I understand it the understanding is it is 25 years concurrent?” and the reply was “yes.” (R. p. 88, lines 5-7).

Prior to entry of the plea, the prosecutor stated, “If I could also ask that the Defendant understand that this is a mandatory term of imprisonment, that it is a mandatory minimum, the sentence cannot be suspended, probation can’t be granted and it is a sentence that does not have eligibility for parole until the passage of 25 years.” Carpenter’s counsel indicated Carpenter’s understanding of that term as part of the plea. (R. p. 95, lines 1-7).

Judge Cottingham concluded the entry of the plea by stating that “I am going to abide by the plea agreement. [Carpenter] is entitled to that, and I will do that.” (*Id.* at lines 14-15).

Sentencing proceedings reconvened on June 4, 1990. At the time of sentencing on that date, the State advised the Court that Carpenter “has not been conforming to the terms of the agreement.” (R. p. 105, lines 6-8). Judge Cottingham stated:

[I]t is my intention to comply exactly with the terms of the plea agreement. In doing so, however, I would require the Defendant to do the exact same thing. Now the question has been raised as to whether or not he has in effect complied. If he has, of course, I am going to sentence him to the minimum 25 years concurrent... If he has not, then I will deal with him accordingly and I would change his sentence to speak to his lack of cooperation.

(R. p. 106, lines 16-24) (emphasis added).

Upon inquiry by Carpenter’s counsel, Judge Cottingham stated that he was going to decide whether to sentence Carpenter on both indictments after hearing from the State, and

if... there exists probable cause to hold a hearing as to whether or not he has in effect complied with this hearing [*sic*], I am going to sentence him on one Count, cocaine. I am going to sentence him exactly according to the plea agreement. I then later will hold a hearing as to whether or not he has complied with his plea agreement... If I conclude from that hearing that he did, in effect, comply, I will make any sentence on that charge, which is the trafficking in marijuana, concurrent with what I do today. If I conclude that he has not complied with the plea agreement, then I will impose such additional sentence as I think is appropriate under the circumstances.

(R. p. 107, line 13 – p. 108, line 3) (emphasis added).

The State asked the trial judge to “enforce the terms of the plea agreement by requiring or imposing a consecutive sentence” upon Carpenter. (R. p. 107, lines 13-16). Carpenter’s counsel objected to the bifurcation of sentencing. (R. p. 112, lines 16-25). Counsel’s position was that the entire sentencing under the plea agreement had to be done at the same time. (R. p. 115, line 20 – p. 116, line 1). Judge Cottingham executed the sentencing sheet for Case 90GS475002 on June 4, 1990.

Judge Cottingham convened a second hearing on August 9, 1990. Carpenter again objected to the second hearing, renewing an earlier objection made in June, all of which was acknowledged by the Court. (R. p. 129, lines 18-24). The trial judge characterized the proceedings which were occurring as a hearing on "contempt in disobedience of the plea agreement." (R. p. 269, lines 22-24). He also characterized the inquiry which was occurring as a determination of whether Carpenter had "breached his agreement." (R. p. 269, lines 14 - 25).

Without a criminal charge pending against Carpenter, without advising Carpenter of his rights to a jury trial or other constitutional protections, and notwithstanding the existence of his plea already having been entered and accepted and a sentencing hearing already concluded, the trial judge proceeded to take testimony from witnesses to determine whether Carpenter had complied with his obligations under the plea agreement. *Id.*

Carpenter's Counsel objected and correctly pointed out that there were no additional charges brought against Carpenter, and the evidence to be presented had to do with matters which occurred after the plea agreement had been entered and accepted, and therefore were not properly up for consideration. Carpenter's counsel astutely observed "There is a clean way for the State to accomplish what they're attempting to do. This is a muddy way, but I guess they're entitled to proceed whichever way they want to proceed." (R. p. 135, lines 9-13).

After hearing from witnesses, the trial judge said "There has not been made, before me, a single showing of additional cooperation by [Carpenter] since the plea agreement was entered into. Nobody has come forward and said, Judge, he cooperated, he did this, that, and the other. There's not one single incident today before me where, and according to that plea agreement, he has done anything." (R. p. 259, lines 12 - 19). The trial judge continued "I'm inclined to think he knows

who [an unidentified alleged co-conspirator] is... I'm not asking him to disclose that to me, but, you know... [I] was born at night but not last night." (R. p. 261, lines 19-25).

The trial judge continued "I may be wrong, but I really conclude that... Carpenter has absolutely, is absolutely thumbing his nose at the Court and to the State of South Carolina... ." (R. p. 263, lines 10-13). The trial judge continued:

This Defendant pled guilty to serious charges, trafficking in cocaine and marijuana. Of course, I've been the presiding judge over this whole grand jury indictment and I've got a feel now, based on the pleadings and what I have heard now, for what occurred and who did what. There's no question about it, that this man was the key man at the top of the whole organization. It's clear¹. If anybody in the world has got information about who did what, it's him.... I've got to conclude that he failed to cooperate.

(R. p. 264, 139, lines 16-24; p. 265, line 2).

The trial judge concluded:

I find beyond absolutely any doubt in my mind that the State of South Carolina has lived up to their agreement in every respect. I further find that he has failed to do so. And based on the plea agreement, I'm going to, one, leave the first part of the sentence, on the number two indictment, as it was. . . And I find he's failed to cooperate in this one. And I find he's failed to cooperate with the terms of the agreement. I further find that an enhancement of the sentence is proper under the circumstances and that connection with regards to the indictment for trafficking in marijuana, it is the sentence of this court that he be confined for a period of twenty-five (25) years, consecutive to the sentence previously imposed upon the indictment for trafficking in cocaine.

(R. p. 266, lines 2 – 25).

The trial judge made no determination or statement as to the burden of proof or persuasion to which he subjected the evidence he considered, or the weight of the evidence

¹ The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has noted that there would be "manifest impropriety in permitting the government, without satisfying a judge that the evidence proves that a defendant broke his promise, to escape the obligation the government undertook in the plea bargain. *United States v. Simmons*, 537 S.E.2d 1260 (4th Cir. 1976). By openly declaring his knowledge from other cases as support for his decision to find that Carpenter has not complied with the plea agreement, the trial judge effectively allowed the government to determine whether Carpenter had complied with the agreement.

that he relied upon to declare that Carpenter's sentence should be "enhanced." (R. p. 269, line 12).

The trial judge referenced the questionable authority retained as of August 9, 1990 when he stated:

"As you well know, ordinarily during a week of general sessions court our Supreme Court has said that the term ends on Friday and the judge cannot, thereafter, change the sentence later. I don't know what our Supreme Court will say in connection with this."

(R. p. 266, line 21 – p. 267, line 1).²

Trial judge conducted the hearing and then ultimately concluded "I'm just leaving an avenue open in the event he demonstrates to you, to the extent that you [the State] wants to make a motion for me to reconsider this hearing and I'll do it, but I'll do it within thirty days. (R. p. 268, lines 2 – 6).

The trial judge reiterated "Now, let me get this clear. The hearing is now over." (R. p. 270, lines 6-8). "I've made a ruling. I'm gone [*sic*] stand by it. And I'm not gonna re-open that." (R. p. 270, lines 18-19). But despite repeated claims he would not reopen the hearing,³ the judge continued to allow for reconsideration of the consecutive nature of the sentence imposed if the State, not Carpenter, requested the reconsideration be made. (R. p. 271, lines 1 – 6).

In concluding the August 9, 1990 hearing, the trial judge attempted to sentence Carpenter on Case No. 1990-GS-47-05001 to a fine of \$50,000 and a term of 25 years, consecutive to the sentence earlier entered on Case No. 1990GS-47-05002. (R. p. 125; R. p. 281).

² The trial judge stated that "ordinarily, in general sessions court, after the term ends, but nobody knows when the term of the grand jury ends." (R. p. 267, lines 19-21). The trial judge may have been arguing that he had continuing jurisdiction, not as a general sessions judge, but as the judge who was presiding over the grand jury, to leave open the sentencing and make an evidentiary ruling that permitted him to "enhance" the sentence.

³ "I don't want to do anything to open up this hearing again and I'm not gone [*sic*] beat a dead horse to death." (R. p. 271, lines 9-11).

Upon his remand to the custody of SCDC in 1991, the SCDC determined Carpenter's sentence to be a total of 50 years, and it recorded in Carpenter's "Conviction Summary" that Carpenter's "max-out" or projected release date for 1990-GS-47-5001 was October 4, 2003, while his "max-out" date on 1990-GS-47-5002 was November 23, 2016. (R. p. 282).

From that time forward, Carpenter's published max-out dates fluctuated between dates in which the recalculation was documented. To wit:

- As of June 2, 1993, Carpenter's Program Status Review from SCDC reflected a projected "max-out" date of July 7, 2015. (R. p. 283).
- As of May 26, 1993, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of July 7, 2015. (R. pp. 284-290)
- As of January 20, 1995, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a work release eligibility projection of February 6, 2015 and a projected "max-out" date of April 4, 2017. (R. pp. 291-296).⁴
- As of March 30, 1995, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a work release eligibility projection of July 4, 2017 and a projected "max-out" date of December 4, 2019. (R. pp.297-298).⁵
- As of June 22, 1999, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of July 4, 2019. No work release eligibility was shown. (R. pp. 299-300).
- As of March 28, 2002, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of November 7, 2016. (R. pp. 301-302).

⁴ The records do not reflect any disciplinary action or other adjudicated extension of Carpenter's projected "max-out" date from July 7, 2015 to April 4, 2017. Carpenter was not notified of a change in this calculation or basis therefore.

⁵ There is no explanation provided in the SCDC records for the acceleration in Carpenter's projected "max-out" date as compared to the date shown previously on January 2, 1995 records. Carpenter was not notified of the change in this calculation or basis therefore.

- As of May 16, 2005, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of November 7, 2016. (R. pp. 303-304).
- As of January 17, 2008, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of February 7, 2018. (R. pp. 305-306).
- As of June 28, 2010, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected a projected "max-out" date of May 20, 2016. (R. pp. 307-308).
- As of June 24, 2011, Carpenter's Offender Summary reflected the same sentence, with a projected "max-out" date of April 7, 2040. (R. pp. 309-310).

On September 12, 2011, after learning that his sentence had been increased by 24 years, Carpenter contacted SCDC classification officials and inquired into the matter. Carpenter received a written response on December 2, 2011 from an employee of SCDC that stated, "Your sentence was modified to show as 25 yr. mandatory minimum day-for-day sentence on 6/24/11." (R. p. 311).

SCDC records reflect, however, that the day before the modification of Carpenter's sentence and increase by 24 years, an internal transaction was undertaken at SCDC to "give" Carpenter 57 days credit on his newly-modified sentence for time he had served prior to conviction, before transfer into the custody of SCDC. (R. p. 312). Carpenter has repeatedly attempted to address the unilateral change in his sentence internally and the Department of Corrections has offered explanations for why his sentence was unilaterally increased without notice to Carpenter or an opportunity to be heard. Staff at SCDC have attempted to justify its changes made more than 20 years after he was taken into Department custody. (R. pp. 313-315).

In 2010, an inmate named Carlos Gonzales wrote a letter to Chief Justice Toal, asserting that he was being illegally held because his sentence had expired. (R. p. 902). Upon receipt of

Gonzales' letter, the clerk of the Supreme Court sent the letter to Jon Ozmint, who was then the director of SCDC.

Upon receipt of Gonzales' letter, SCDC began an internal audit of all "inmates with a drug trafficking offense prior to 1/1/96 with an incarceration sentence of 25 years or more" who were still in the custody of SCDC as of March 18, 2010. (R. pp. 904-923). Carpenter was among those inmates. (Id at pp. 904, 915 and 922). In its "Drug Trafficking Audit Results" SCDC produced a listing of inmates whose sentences had been examined in response to Gonzales' letter. (Id. at pp. 922 and 923). According to SCDC's own records, the 2010 survey resulted in its unilateral decision to "update" Carpenter's sentence to a "mandatory minimum." Several other inmates, in addition to Carpenter, had their sentences "updated" to a mandatory minimum. *Id.* Some, however, had already been "deemed parolable" so nothing was done to change those sentences or correct the issue. (*Id.* at p. 922, Inmates 138725, 141971).

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