STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge
Lower Court Case No: 2016-CP-40-6916

Appellate Case No. 2017-002577

Charles Eugene Carpenter, [REDACTED]

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections and
the State of South Carolina,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FOR THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
DEC 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

Appellant made no argument to the lower court and makes no argument here that his allegations are not within the purview of the PCR Act. Instead, Appellant relies on the order denying the State’s motion to dismiss to argue he should have been allowed to pursue his claims in a circuit court habeas petition. The State filed a motion to dismiss the petition in the circuit court arguing that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to entertain the matter. The order denying the motion to dismiss merely ruled that Appellant had made a sufficient showing, under Rule 12(b), SCRCF, that the circuit court does have subject matter jurisdiction over a habeas petition. Whether the lower court had subject matter jurisdiction is a separate question of whether Appellant’s specific allegations are procedurally barred. This was highlighted during the motion to dismiss hearing. (ROA p. 723-735). The order denying the motion to dismiss only found Appellant was entitled to a hearing to determine whether he could meet his burden in proving his case under the appropriate legal framework as properly applied by the lower court. Specifically, Appellant had to show that his allegations were not encompassed by the PCR Act. He could not. Appellant’s allegations are clearly cognizable under the PCR Act, and, therefore, are procedurally barred from being raised before the circuit court.

II.

Appellant is barred by *res judicata* from continuing to pursue these allegations. As an alternative sustaining ground, Appellant's petition was properly dismissed because Judge Cottingham maintained jurisdiction over Appellant's case and had the power to sentence Appellant as he did. Furthermore, Appellant's sentence has not expired.

Appellant argues the lower court erred in finding that Judge Cottingham had jurisdiction to impose the consecutive 25 year sentence at the August 9, 1990 sentencing hearing.

How the Issue Arose Below

On April 7, 1990, Appellant pled guilty before Judge Cottingham to conspiracy counts in the two SGJ indictments in return for the dismissal of all other SGJ counts as well as the dismissal of numerous other serious charges.³ (ROA p. 477-483). Appellant pled pursuant to a written plea agreement which provided that he would receive concurrent twenty-five (25) year sentences on the conspiracy counts *if* he abided by the plea agreement and cooperated with authorities, but the State could request that the sentences be run *consecutively* if he failed to cooperate. (ROA p. 479; 489). Sentencing was deferred until June 4, 1990, at which point the parties returned before Judge Cottingham. (ROA p. 499). Appellant had moved to fire Mr. Lofton and retain new counsel, Timothy F. Rogers and Michael J. Cox, Esquires. Judge Cottingham allowed Mr. Rogers and Mr. Cox to appear but ordered Mr. Lofton to remain on the case due to his familiarity with the issues and the late nature of Appellant's decision. (ROA p. 501). Judge Cottingham sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment and a

³ While not part of the plea agreement, numerous charges brought by other jurisdictions were dismissed. Marlboro County burglary and kidnapping charges were dismissed. Richland County charges were dismissed. Federal firearm charges were dismissed out of the Florence Division of the U.S. Attorney's Office. It was agreed that sentences on pending North Carolina charges would be served concurrently with the South Carolina sentences. The State further agreed not to pursue charges against Appellant for offenses that were committed prior to the State Grand Jury indictments.

\$200,000 fine on Indictment 90-002 (Cocaine), but deferred sentencing on Indictment 90-001 until a hearing could be held on the State's allegations that Appellant had breached the plea agreement previously entered by refusing to cooperate as outlined by his plea agreement. (ROA p. 519-525).

Thereafter, on August 9, 1990, Judge Cottingham convened a hearing to determine whether Appellant had breached the plea agreement. (ROA p. 527-531). Testimony was taken from various witnesses including investigators and a codefendant. (ROA p. 541-646). At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Cottingham found that Appellant had willfully failed to cooperate with authorities and indeed had threatened the lives of witnesses and codefendants. (ROA p. 666-671). Accordingly, Judge Cottingham found that Appellant violated his obligations under the plea agreement and sentenced Appellant to a consecutive twenty-five (25) years and \$50,000 fine on Indictment 90-001. (ROA p. 668).

Judge Cottingham retained jurisdiction to allow Appellant a final opportunity to cooperate with law enforcement as required by his plea agreement. On February 3, 1992, Judge Cottingham issued an order affirming the August 9, 1990, consecutive sentence for conspiracy to traffic marijuana and divesting himself of jurisdiction over the matter. (Sup. ROA p. 18).

Discussion

- A. Appellant is barred by *res judicata* from challenging the lower court's ruling because the South Carolina Supreme Court has denied his subsequent petition for writ of habeas corpus seeking relief on the same grounds.

As an initial matter, the South Carolina Supreme Court has considered Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on the merits and has denied relief. Carpenter v. State and SCDC, S. Ct. Order, June 12, 2018. On December 20, 2017, Appellant filed numerous documents with the supreme court: Petition for Original Jurisdiction and Writ of Habeas Corpus, Petition for Certification of Appeal to this Court and Consolidation with Original Jurisdiction

Proceeding, and Notice of: Petition in the Original Jurisdiction. On June 12, 2018, the supreme court denied all filings including the writ of habeas corpus.

Appellant is barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* at this stage in the litigation as these exact issues have been ruled upon by the supreme court. Appellant filed an identical petition for writ of habeas corpus with the supreme court as originally filed with the lower court. Under the doctrine of *res judicata*, “[a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011) (quoting Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 34, 512 S.E.2d 109 (1999)). The elements of *res judicata* are: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit. Judy, 393 S.C. at 167, 712 S.E.2d at 412 (citing Riedman Corp. v. Greenville Steel Structures, Inc., 308 S.C. 467, 419 S.E.2d 217 (1992)). “[F]or purposes of *res judicata*, a ‘cause of action’ is not the form of action in which a claim is asserted but, rather the ‘cause for action, meaning the underlying facts combined with the law giving the party a right to a remedy of one form or another based thereon.’” Plum Creek Dev. Co., 334 S.C. at 36, 512 S.E.2d at 110 (quoting 50 C.J.S. Judgment § 749 (1997)).

In its order denying the petition, the supreme court cited Gibson v. State, 329 S.C. 37, 495 S.E.2d 426 (1998), which sets out the requirements for habeas petitions and holds that relief is “available only when other remedies, such as PCR, are inadequate or unavailable.” The supreme court also cited Simpson which holds that if a matter is cognizable under the PCR Act, then it may not be raised by a petition for writ of habeas corpus. Simpson, 329 S.C. at 46. The State has argued and relied on these cases throughout these proceedings. In his Initial Brief before this Court, Appellant actually asks this Court to “allow the matter to be decided by the

South Carolina Supreme Court.” (FBOA, p. 33). Since that court has done so, this matter should be dismissed. The supreme court has considered this exact issue on the merits, it has been finally adjudicated in an action involving the same parties, so therefore *res judicata* bars Appellant from seeking the relief in this action. Accordingly, this action should be dismissed.

B. As an alternative sustaining ground, Judge Cottingham maintained proper jurisdiction over Appellant’s case and had the power to act as he did.

7 Even if this Court were to consider the lower court’s ruling on the merits, Appellant’s arguments still fail.

The South Carolina Constitution provides for the possibility of habeas corpus relief. S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 18. “Habeas relief is seldom used and acts as an ultimate ensurer of fundamental constitutional rights. For these reasons, a defendant bears a much higher burden in a habeas proceeding.” Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. at 477, 671 S.E.2d at 602. A writ of habeas corpus is reserved for only the most serious of constitutional violations which – in the setting – constitute a “denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice.” Id. (citing Green v. Maynard, 349 S.C. 535, 538, 564 S.E.2d 83, 84 (2002)); see also Butler v. State, 302 S.C. 466, 468, 397 S.E.2d 87, 88 (1990). This Court has held, however, that not “every constitutional error at trial will justify issuance of the writ.” McWee v. State, 357 S.C. 403, 406, 593 S.E.2d 456, 457 (2004) (quoting Green v. Maynard, 349 S.C. at 538, 564 S.E.2d at 84). This Court will grant a writ of habeas corpus only under “unique and compelling circumstances.” Id. Habeas corpus is available only when other remedies – such as post-conviction relief – are either inadequate or unavailable. See Gibson v. State, 329 S.C. 37, 41, 495 S.E.2d 426, 428 (1998).

The lower court was correct in finding even if the issues were properly before it, Appellant failed to show the alleged constitutional violations have denied him fundamental fairness that is shocking to the universal sense of justice. Appellant’s first argument was that

Judge Cottingham lacked the authority to retain jurisdiction over the case and defer sentencing to a later date. Appellant incorrectly frames this as a subject matter jurisdiction challenge. An applicant may challenge the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court, and such a claim is one that may be raised at any time. See Brown v. State, 343 S.C. 342, 540 S.E.2d 846 (2001), *overruled in part by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). However, “[c]ircuit courts obviously have subject matter jurisdiction to try criminal matters.” Gentry, 610 S.E.2d at 499; See also S.C. Const. Art. V, § 7. Thus, rather than raising an issue of subject matter jurisdiction, Appellant is raising a challenge to the trial court’s authority. The record completely refutes Appellant’s claims that Judge Cottingham improperly deferred sentencing while retaining jurisdiction over the case.

The chief administrative judge for general sessions for the Fifth Judicial Circuit oversees the State Grand Jury and is referred to as the “presiding judge” throughout the State Grand Jury Act. S.C Code Ann. § 14-7-1630(B). The presiding judge is responsible for the docket management of all criminal and civil proceedings arising out of the State Grand Jury including issues with subpoenas, the impanelment of the jurors, and the bond hearings for defendants indicted by the SGJ. The presiding judge also handles all of the administrative matters relating to the SGJ including issuance of orders, search warrants, and arrest warrants. Id. Once a defendant is indicted and after a venue order is entered, the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court assigns a judge to “take jurisdiction of and preside over all civil and criminal proceedings, with the exception of post-conviction relief matters, arising out of that investigation and set terms of court for the trial of these cases in the county where venue is set by the Presiding Judge of the State

Grand Jury.” See Administrative Order State Grand Jury, S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated March 20, 2003.⁴

Here, venue was ordered in Chesterfield County, and Judge Cottingham was assigned by Chief Justice George T. Gregory, Jr., to preside over all cases arising out of the SGJ investigation. (Sup. ROA p. 24). With that order, Judge Cottingham had continuing jurisdiction over Appellant’s case along with his codefendants’ cases. This allowed Judge Cottingham to get a full picture of the investigation and the allegations set forth in the indictments. Judge Cottingham had the authority to manage Appellant’s case as he saw fit. The trial court was not limited in its jurisdiction as it may have been if Judge Cottingham had been assigned a specific weekly term of court, because he was vested with continuing jurisdiction over the case, which is unique to SGJ cases.

Appellant further argued that Judge Cottingham was without authority to defer sentencing. Since there was clearly continuing jurisdiction over Appellant’s case, the question turns to whether Judge Cottingham properly deferred sentencing. “Judgment in a criminal case is not final until sentence is imposed.” State v. Robinson, 287 S.C. 173, 174, 337 S.E.2d 204, 204 (1985). Here, Appellant’s sentence was not final until he was sentenced on the trafficking in marijuana indictment. That sentence was imposed on August 9, 1990, as evidenced by the sentencing sheet and the transcript. (Sup. ROA p. 14). Judge Cottingham was well within his authority to defer sentencing and to provide Appellant an opportunity to cooperate as set forth in the plea agreement. It is important to note that while Appellant argues Judge Cottingham was

⁴ This Order was issued after Appellant had been sentenced, but these were the procedures in place at the time. The Supreme Court issued an order that “the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, be, and he hereby is, vested with concurrent jurisdiction in all circuits of the state to dispose of all common pleas and general sessions matters, including trials by jury, arising from State Grand Jury Investigation No. 89-005.” S. Ct. Order issued November 15, 1989.

without subject matter jurisdiction, the question is really whether Judge Cottingham had the power to act in a particular manner. See State v. Campbell, 376 S.C. 212, 656 S.E.2d 371 (2008) (distinguishing jurisdiction from subject matter jurisdiction and explaining that a trial judge is without the power to act under the general rule despite the existence of subject matter jurisdiction).

Appellant also argues that his sentence has expired. This is based on the faulty assumption that he was sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment. The comprehensive record shows that Appellant was sentenced to *consecutive* terms of twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment. If the Court reversed on the grounds that Judge Cottingham did not have jurisdiction or authority to act, then no sentence would have been imposed on the trafficking marijuana indictment. This would not require Appellant's release and would instead merely require a remand to have that sentence imposed. This further supports the State's argument that habeas relief is improper as the only remedy in habeas is release.

III.

The lower court properly ruled that Appellant's allegations against the State and the South Carolina Department of Correction (SCDC) were separate and distinct.

Appellant argues the lower court erred by not addressing Appellant's arguments that he is entitled to habeas corpus relief based on the actions of SCDC. The lower court properly recognized the issues as distinct as between the State and SCDC. The allegations that Judge Cottingham was without jurisdiction to impose his sentence and that Appellant's sentence had expired were grounds that only concerned the State. The allegations that SCDC's actions constituted an equal protection violation and that Appellant's due process rights were violated were distinct from any allegations made against the State. The State does not address the issues

specific to SCDC in this brief. Appellant has needlessly complicated these proceedings and issues. The issues presented to the lower court were properly ruled upon as to each party.

IV.

Appellant concedes that his allegations of impropriety by the lower court are unpreserved. Still, the allegations are baseless.

Finally, Appellant argues the lower court committed numerous ethical violations while presiding over this matter. Notably, Appellant concedes that this issue was neither raised nor ruled upon by the lower court and is therefore not properly before this court for consideration. (FBOA, p. 33-34). An argument not raised to and ruled on by the lower court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals, and the court’s opinion should be vacated to the extent it addressed an issue that was not preserved.”).

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